ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAY 06 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND  
TREATMENT OF DAQUAN JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001959

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether a person confined under South Carolina's Sexually Violent Predator Act has a due process right to effective assistance of counsel under the federal and state constitutions as well as under the statutory right to counsel in the Act?<sup>1</sup>

2.

Whether due process requires that ineffective assistance of counsel claims may be raised on direct appeal from a commitment under South Carolina's Sexually Violent Predator Act?

3.

The State's expert revealed on direct-examination that he had a financial interest in the company that manufactures the penile plethysmograph test he administered to appellant. Did trial counsel's failure to impeach for bias deprive appellant of his statutory and due process rights to the effective assistance of counsel, requiring a new trial or a remand to the trial court to supplement the record on this issue?

---

<sup>1</sup> Issues 1, 2, and 7, which concern whether this Court may hear these claims on direct review, are identical to the claims raised in In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Jeffrey Allen Chapman, Appellate Case No. 2014-001181, currently pending before this Court, in which a motion to certify the case was filed in the Supreme Court. As of the writing of this initial brief, the Supreme Court has not yet ruled on the certification motion in Chapman. The State took no position on the certification motion.

4.

Whether trial counsel's failure to move to exclude any evidence related to a penile plethysmograph because, like a polygraph test, it is unreliable and unscientific, deprived appellant of his statutory and due process rights to the effective assistance of counsel and requires a new trial or a remand to the trial court to supplement the record on this issue?

5.

Whether trial counsel's failure to move to dismiss the case because the multidisciplinary team lacked the requisite five members required by section 44-48-50 of the SVP Act deprived appellant of his statutory and due process rights to the effective assistance of counsel and requires appellant's release?

6.

Whether trial counsel's initial agreement with the State not to mention the lack of treatment in the SVP program, and then failing to inquire about the lack of treatment after the State expert opened the door, deprived appellant of his statutory and due process rights to the effective assistance of counsel and requires a new trial?

7.

Alternatively, if the Court denies relief on the preceding issues and fails to provide a means for appellant to raise his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, whether the SVP Act is unconstitutional because it deprives appellant of due process?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 1, 2013, the State filed a petition to commit appellant pursuant to the South Carolina Sexually Violent Predator Act. R. 290. The underlying convictions were three counts of lewd act on a child. R. 290. On September 15, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable Alison Lee and a jury. R.1. Nicole Wetherton represented the State. R.1. Dave Belding represented appellant. R.1. The jury voted to commit appellant. R. 286, ll. 4 – 14. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

A person confined under South Carolina's Sexually Violent Predator Act has a due process right to the effective assistance of counsel under the federal and state constitutions as well as under the statutory right to counsel in the Act.

### **Relevant Facts**

Johnson's underlying convictions were three Alford pleas to lewd act upon a child. R. 290. R. 172, ll. 16 – 173, l. 24. He denied committing any sexual offenses to both the Department of Mental Health (“DMH”) expert and to the State's expert. R. 203, ll. 13 – 19. R. 76, ll. 14 – 19. He was sentenced to fifteen years' imprisonment suspended to time served and five years' probation. R. 179, ll. 16 – 20. This meant he was released as soon as he was “set up with probation.” R. 179, l. 21 – 180, l. 2.

Johnson was originally charged with criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, for which he faced life imprisonment. R. 177, ll. 6 – 11. The State called the solicitor who prosecuted Johnson who testified that her job was to “seek justice.” R. 178, l. 1. Appellant asked the solicitor whether “justice was done by a plea to lewd act to time served.” R. 178, ll. 16 – 17. The solicitor responded, “Based upon the evidence and the factors, yes.” R. 178, l. 18.

The State's expert, Dr. William Henry Burke (“Burke”) characterized the crimes for which the trial judge sentenced Johnson to time served as “exceptionally heinous and cruel.” R. 122, ll. 1 – 15. R. 123, l. 11 – 124, l. 2. Dr. Burke was hired by the Attorney General after DMH's expert did not recommend that Johnson be committed under the SVP Act. R. 123, ll. 8 – 10. R. 189, ll. 1 – 13. R. 206, ll. 2 – 7. Dr. Burke was not

licensed in psychiatry or psychology, but counseling. R. 115, l. 17 – 116, l. 10. At one point on cross-examination, Dr. Burke also claimed to be an actuary. R. 130, ll. 2 – 12. He retracted this claim after defense counsel asked if he was licensed, explaining that he misunderstood the original question (“Are you an actuary?”). R. 130, ll. 2 – 12.

Johnson only found himself facing commitment under the SVP Act because of the sad circumstances surrounding the revocation of his probation. When Johnson was being released from the county detention center, he asked to be taken to his family’s residence, but the probation office told him he was not permitted to live there. R. 140, l. 21 – 141, l. 7. Instead, the jail took Johnson to a homeless shelter. R. 141, ll. 8 – 10. Presumably because Johnson was on the sex offender registry, the homeless shelter would not take him. R. 141, ll. 8 – 14. Johnson then went to the emergency room. R. 141, ll. 11 – 21. He went to the emergency room for two nights because he had no place to stay. R. 141, l. 18 – 142, l. 1. He then went to his mother’s house “trying to find a place to stay” when “the GPS picked it up and they went and got him.” R. 142, ll. 2 – 11. Johnson essentially was free for three days on probation before he was revoked for being homeless. R. 144, ll. 6 – 10. The State’s expert believed this situation increased Johnson’s risk for reoffending because it showed “an inability to follow directions.”<sup>2</sup> R. 144, ll. 6 – 145, l. 25.

Dr. Kimberly S. Harrison (“Harrison”) first evaluated Johnson for the Department of Mental Health (“DMH”). R. 188, ll. 12 – 17. R. 189, ll. 12 – 13. She testified for the

---

<sup>2</sup> Johnson’s mother passed away while he was in prison. R. 192, ll. 6 – 25. Dr. Burke told the jury grief over a mother’s death “can increase your level of risk.” R. 107, l. 9 – 108, l. 14.

defense. R. 186, ll. 4 – 5. Dr. Harrison diagnosed Johnson with pedophilia, but did not recommend commitment. R. 204, l. 14 – 205, l. 1. R. 206, ll. 2 – 7.

At trial, Dr. Harrison stated that she could not currently offer an opinion whether Johnson met the criteria under the SVP act because the Attorney General originally gave her incorrect information about Johnson's charges when she made her first evaluation. R. 206, l. 2 – 13. The Attorney General informed Dr. Harrison that a charge had been dismissed which actually had resulted in a conviction. R. 219, ll. 5 – 19. Dr. Harrison had specifically asked the Attorney General about the dismissal of the charge and was told the charge had been dismissed. R. 219, ll. 14 – 19. R. 196, ll. 6 – 22. Even including the conviction, which would have changed his score on a risk assessment instrument called the Static-99R, it could have changed his score from what was initially calculated as a "four" to as high as a "six." R. 198, l. 1 – 199, l. 17. Even with a score of a "six," Johnson's recidivism rate under the Static-99R would have been in the category of 24.7% over a five-year period. R. 199, l. 12 – 200, l. 2. Dr. Harrison candidly stated that she would need to be able to do more research to come up with an accurate Static-99R score and offer an opinion as of the time of trial. R. 208, ll. 7 – 17.

Dr. Burke gave Johnson a score of "eight" on the Static-99R. R. 82, ll. 1 – 24. Dr. Burke arrived at his higher score because he included a write-up at the county jail for masturbating as his "index offense." R. 83, l. 1 – 84, l. 24. Because the "index offense" changes what other offenses are counted, making the detention officer's write-up the index offense greatly increased Johnson's score. R. 83, l. 1 – 84, l. 24. Dr. Harrison believed that including the write-up from the jail was incorrect because, unlike the Department of Corrections, the jail had no "oversight or quasi judicial system to

determine if something actually happened or not.” R. 201, l. 5 – 202, l. 4. According to Dr. Harrison, the scoring manual for the Static-99R required the practitioner to give the person the benefit of the doubt if it was unclear whether to use something like the jail write-up. R. 202, ll. 1 – 4.

As will be explained more thoroughly in Issues 3 and 4, Dr. Burke told the jury that the main difference between his opinion and Dr. Harrison’s was the result of a penile plethysmograph test given to Johnson. R. 113, ll. 22 – 24. Dr. Harrison testified, “There are a lot of problems with phallometric testing,” and that DMH no longer used them for pre-commitment evaluations. R. 221, ll. 3 – 25. Trial counsel failed to object to the admission of any evidence regarding the phallometric testing of Johnson. He also failed to impeach Dr. Burke with evidence (offered by Dr. Burke himself during his direct-examination) that he had a financial connection to the manufacturer of the penile plethysmograph test that he claimed was “vitaly important” to his opinion R. 113, ll. 22 – 24.

## **Discussion**

### *The Right to Counsel Includes the Right to Effective Assistance*

Johnson has a due process right to the effective assistance of counsel. “It has long been recognized that the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970). This right flows from the due process clauses of both the United States and South Carolina Constitutions.<sup>3</sup> U.S. Const. amend. V, XIV. S.C. Const. Art. I, § 3. This right is distinct from the Sixth Amendment right to counsel in criminal cases. See In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235 (2001) (finding no Sixth Amendment right to counsel because SVP cases are not criminal proceedings).

“[C]ivil commitment for any purpose constitutes a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection.” Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 425 (1979). “The loss of liberty produced by an involuntary commitment is more than a loss of freedom from confinement.” Vitek v. Jones, 445 U.S. 480, 492 (1980). “It is indisputable that commitment to a mental hospital can engender adverse social consequences to the individual and that whether we label this phenomena ‘stigma’ or choose to call it something else . . . we recognize that it can occur and that it can have a very significant impact on the individual.” Id. The discussion of “stigma” in Vitek

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellate counsel is compelled to direct the Court’s attention to In the Matter of McCoy, 360 S.C. 425, 602 S.E.2d 58 (2004). In McCoy, the Court held that it would apply the Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) procedure to SVP cases. McCoy at 427, 602 S.E.2d at 58. In dicta, the Court stated that persons committed under the SVP Act have no Sixth or Fourteenth Amendment rights to counsel, but do have a statutory right to counsel. Id. It does not appear that the Fourteenth Amendment issue was before the Court and the Court gave no citation for this proposition nor engaged in any analysis of this issue. Id. To the extent this Court believes McCoy establishes a precedent that no due process right to counsel exists in SVP cases, McCoy should be overruled.

referred to a person confined because he was mentally ill. Id. at 484. It is hard to imagine anything more stigmatizing than labeling a person a sexually violent predator.

Every justice who considered the merits in Vitek concluded that involuntary commitment implicates a liberty interest protected by the due process clause. Id. at 482, 497-98. The Vitek decision is somewhat complicated because four justices believed the case was moot and did not discuss the merits of the due process question in their dissenting opinions. Id. at 500-02 (dissents of Stewart, J. and Blackmun, J.). Four of the five justices who considered the merits concluded that due process required appointed counsel. Id. at 494-97 (“In these circumstances, it is appropriate that counsel be provided to indigent prisoners whom the State seeks to treat as mentally ill.”).

South Carolina’s SVP Act stresses the right to counsel and the need to conform to constitutional requirements. Defendants have the right to counsel at the probable cause hearing. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-80(C)(1). If the defendant is going to be tried under the SVP Act, he is entitled, “[a]t all stages of the proceedings under this chapter . . . to the assistance of counsel, and if the person is indigent, the court must appoint counsel to assist the person.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(B). If a defendant is incompetent, they are entitled to “all constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B). Finally, the SVP Act contains an overarching provision to ensure constitutional protections for accused persons, which states, “The involuntary detention and commitment of a person pursuant to this chapter must conform to constitutional requirements for care and treatment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-170.

“Once a State has granted prisoners a liberty interest . . . due process protections are necessary to insure that the state-created right is not arbitrarily abrogated.” Vitek,

445 U.S. at 488-89 (internal quotations omitted). South Carolina grants persons accused under the SVP Act a liberty interest in the right to counsel. This liberty interest would be meaningless if the right to counsel did not mean the right to effective assistance of counsel. The Legislature did not emphasize the right to counsel in the SVP Act only to mean that counsel would be allowed to perform in violation of constitutionally acceptable standards. Otherwise, an SVP defendant's attorney could, for example, sleep through the trial and this would meet the technical requirement of the appointment of counsel. Surely the Legislature did not intend to grant defendants an empty right to counsel that has no substantive meaning.

Appellant anticipates that the State will rely on Aice v. State, 305 S.C. 448, 409 S.E.2d 392 (1991) to support any opposition it may have to recognizing a right to effective assistance of counsel in an SVP case. In Aice, the Court ruled that ineffective assistance of PCR counsel will not excuse the failure to bring all of a prisoner's PCR claims in his initial PCR. Aice at 449-51, 409 S.E.2d at 393-94. To support this decision, the Court distinguished Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991) by stating that Austin "never received a full 'bite' at the apple." Aice at 452, 409 S.E.2d at 395. Unlike Aice, Johnson is seeking his first full bite at the apple based on the ineffectiveness of **trial counsel** at the SVP proceeding where his liberty was in jeopardy.

Other states with SVP laws recognize that the right to the effective assistance of counsel is uncontroversial. See People v. Landau, 154 Cal. Rptr.3d 1, 17-18 (Cal. Ct. App. 2013) (addressing ineffective assistance of counsel claim in SVP commitment case); Manning v. State, 913 So.2d 37, 37-38 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2005) (recognizing right to effective assistance of counsel in SVP cases and stating Florida Supreme Court

“has previously recognized that an individual who faces involuntary commitment to a mental health facility has a liberty interest at stake, and therefore has the right to the effective assistance of counsel at all significant stages of the commitment process.”); Smith v. State, 203 P.3d 1221, 1232 (Idaho 2009) (“[T]he legislature has granted a statutory right to counsel, which gives Smith the statutory right to effective assistance of counsel.”); People v. Rainey, 758 N.E.2d 492, 502 (Ill. App. Ct. 2001) (“We therefore conclude that the right to counsel under the Act includes the right to the effective assistance of counsel.”); In re Detention of Crane, 704 N.W.2d 437, 438 (Iowa 2013) (“As a threshold matter, we note that in this appeal the State concedes that respondents in chapter 229A proceedings have the right to effective assistance of counsel.”); In re Ontiberos, 287 P.3d 855, 865 (Kan. 2012) (“And since we have held that there is a constitutional right to assistance of counsel in KSVPA proceedings, our caselaw instructs that this right carries with it a correlative right to competent, effective counsel.”); Commonwealth v. Ferreira, 852 N.E.2d 1086, 1090-91 (Mass. App. Ct. 2006) (“As in the context of appointment of counsel in civil proceedings under G.L. c. 119 § 29, we conclude that the right to counsel in G.L. c. 123A proceedings would be of little value if there were no expectation that counsel’s assistance will be effective.”); In re Civil Commitment of D.L., 797 A.2d 166, 171 (N.J. App. Div. 2002) (stating that the “right to effective, unhindered, assistance of counsel is among those ‘immutable principles of justice which inhere in the very idea of free government’” in deciding that SVP defendants have a right to counsel on appeal (quoting Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 68 (1932))); State v. Timothy BB., 975 N.Y.S.2d 237, 240 (N.Y. App. Div. 2013) (“Initially, we hold that while Mental Hygiene Law article 10 proceedings are civil rather

than criminal, and that ineffective assistance of counsel may only be considered in civil litigation if extraordinary circumstances are present, the indefinite and involuntary nature of confinement that may result in this type of proceeding constitutes such an extraordinary circumstance.”); Jenkins v. Director of the Virginia Ctr. Behav. Rehab., 624 S.E.2d 453, 460 (Va. 2006) (“We also hold that Jenkins has a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel during the proceeding in which he was adjudicated a sexually violent predator, and on appeal from that adjudication.”); In re Detention of Stout, 150 P.3d 86, 97 (Wash. 2007) (addressing ineffective assistance of counsel claim in SVP case); State ex rel. Seibert v. Macht, 627 N.W.2d 881, 886 (Wis. 2001) (finding that right to counsel in an SVP appeal “encompasses the right to effective assistance of counsel.”).

The Kansas Supreme Court’s decision in Ontiberos is particularly instructive because South Carolina’s SVP Act is modeled on the Kansas statute. In re Matthews, 345 S.C. 638, 649, 550 S.E.2d 311, 316 (2001) (“South Carolina’s Act is modeled on Kansas’ Sexually Violent Predator Act.”); In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 97, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (“We hold today in In the Matter of Matthews . . . that a side by side comparison of our SVP Act and the Kansas Act does not reveal any substantial differences.”). The Kansas court began by analyzing the relevant statute which provided that “at all stages” of the SVP proceedings a person “*shall be entitled to the assistance of counsel. . . .*” Ontiberos, 287 P.3d at 862-63 (emphasis in original) compare S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(B). The court then stated that “when there is a right to counsel there is necessarily a correlative right to effective counsel—regardless of whether the right derives from a statute or the constitution.” Ontiberos, 287 P.3d at 863.

The court then considered whether an SVP defendant had a constitutional right to counsel. Id. The court examined the relevant United States Supreme Court precedent on the Due Process Clause, including Vitek. Id. at 864-65. Ontiberos stressed that the right to counsel flowed from the defendant's liberty interest "in personal freedom, not just the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel in criminal cases." Id. at 864. The court also stressed that since the state is represented by counsel, "the person the State seeks to commit should also have access to an attorney." Id. at 865. The court ultimately concluded that defendants in SVP cases had a constitutional due process right to the effective assistance of counsel. Id. at 865.

This Court should adopt the reasoning of Ontiberos because the South Carolina and Kansas acts are indistinguishable. Defendants in SVP cases in South Carolina face the possibility of being involuntarily committed for the rest of their lives. Except in a capital case, no greater liberty interest exists. Johnson had a statutory right and a constitutional due process right to the effective assistance of counsel at his trial. A citizen facing a few days in jail from criminal proceedings in Magistrate's Court is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. A person facing a lifetime of being warehoused at South Carolina's former Death Row deserves no less.

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