**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Richland County  
The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001959

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF  
DAQUAN JOHNSON,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Richland County  
The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001959

---

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The right to counsel in sexual predator cases is a statutory right, and the statute does not provide a right to effective assistance of counsel, but if the Court finds such a right, ineffective assistance allegations should not be considered on direct appeal because committees under the SVPA can raise ineffective assistance of counsel through common law habeas corpus proceedings, which afford all parties, including trial counsel, an opportunity for the full evidentiary hearing necessary for appellate review, and the Strickland two part test should be used to assess the ineffective assistance claims. (Appellant's Issues 1, 2 and 7).**

Appellant contends trial counsel was ineffective as a matter of law, and the alleged ineffectiveness should be determined in this direct appeal because the SVPA does not provide a mechanism to raise ineffective assistance of counsel issues, and he has no other available mechanism to raise the issues. Appellant concedes the specific issues he asserts as ineffective assistance of counsel are not preserved for appellate review, and such issues would not be decided on direct appeal, even in a death penalty case. In the face of those concessions, however, he asks this Court to ignore long standing issue preservation precedent, and essentially apply a plain error standard of review to decide the issues anyway, all without affording trial counsel an opportunity to be heard. Further, contrary to Appellant's contention, there is a well-established and available mechanism for him to raise ineffective assistance of counsel issues arising from a sexually violent predator case.

### **A. Effective Assistance of Counsel in SVPA Cases**

Appellant argues, extensively, that in addition to the statutory right to counsel, there is a due process right to effective assistance of counsel in SVPA cases under the federal and state constitutions. This Court has already determined a person the State

seeks to commit under the SVPA has no Sixth or Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel, but does have a statutory right to counsel under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90 (2003). In re McCoy, 360 S.C. 425, 427, 602 S.E.2d 58, 59 (2004)<sup>2</sup>; *see also* In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235, 240 (2001) (the only right to counsel under the SVPA is the statutory right to the assistance of appointed counsel).

The primary issue, therefore, is whether the statutory right under the SVPA encompasses the right to “effective” assistance of counsel. The statute does not afford that right, normally arising from the Sixth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, which do not apply to civil cases under the SVPA. In essence, Appellant is attempting to put a square peg in a round hole, and asks this Court to juxtapose post-conviction relief (PCR) rights and procedures on SVPA proceedings, minus the inconvenience of providing a record for meaningful appellate review.

If this Court holds the statutory right to counsel under the SVPA includes the right to effective assistance of counsel, however, the remaining issues are how such claims should be litigated, and what standard should be used to determine whether counsel was ineffective. Rather than force the square peg into a round hole, there is already a round hole available to Appellant, even though it may be inconvenient for him to use it.

---

<sup>2</sup>Even though the Court specifically cites the Fourteenth Amendment in the McCoy opinion, by way of footnote, Appellant asserts the Fourteenth Amendment reference was dicta, and the constitutional issue was not before the Court. To the contrary, rather than mere dicta, the constitutional references in McCoy were central to the Court’s adoption of a meritless appeal procedure in SVPA cases.

**B. Availability of Relief**

Appellant contends he has no avenue other than direct appeal to raise ineffective assistance of counsel allegations. On the contrary, if such a right exists, the common law habeas corpus petition provides an adequate, and more appropriate, forum for litigating such allegations.

The South Carolina Constitution provides the “privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended unless when, in case of insurrection, rebellion or invasion, the public safety may require it.” S.C. Const., Art. 1, §18. Habeas corpus is available when other remedies, such as PCR, are inadequate or unavailable. Hamm v. State, 403 S.C. 461, 744 S.E.2d 503, 504 (2013); *see also* Williams v. Ozmint, 380 S.C. 473, 671 S.E.2d 600, 602 (2008) (“a writ of habeas corpus is reserved for the very gravest of constitutional violations which, in the setting, constitute a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice”); McWee v. State, 357 S.C. 403, 593 S.E.2d 456, 457 (2004) (habeas relief will only be granted under “unique and compelling circumstances”); Butler v. State, 302 S.C. 466, 397 S.E.2d 87, 88 (1990) (“[N]ot every intervening decision, nor every constitutional error at trial will justify issuance of the writ.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted). The PCR statute superseded habeas corpus for post-conviction relief, but the common law privilege still exists, and Appellant cites no cases to the contrary. As noted above, the SVPA does not provide a process for litigating ineffective assistance of appointed counsel, and therefore, if the Court holds the SVPA statutory right to counsel includes effective assistance of counsel, habeas corpus is available to address those issues.

In Hamm, a SVPTP resident filed a habeas petition in the South Carolina Supreme Court seeking release from his civil commitment under the SVPA, alleging counsel in his criminal case was ineffective under Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356 (2010), by failing to advise him of the SVPA implications before he pled guilty to the predicate SVPA offense.<sup>3</sup> The Court denied the petition, finding the resident failed to file a timely PCR petition on the issue, and therefore, failed to exhaust all available remedies before seeking habeas relief. Hamm at 504.

Significantly, the Court did **not** hold habeas relief was never available to a SVPTP resident, and as discussed above, precluding habeas relief would be contrary to the state constitution. To the contrary, the Court explicitly recognizes a SVPTP resident's right to file a habeas petition when appropriate. In re: McCracken, 346 S.C. 7, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (SVPTP resident's remedy for unconstitutional confinement under the SVPA would be by writ of habeas corpus).<sup>4</sup> *See also* Douglas v. Hall, 229 S.C. 550, 93 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1956) (writ of habeas corpus always available to test the legality of proceedings in which person was civilly committed on grounds of insanity).

Appellant correctly asserts the PCR statute and S.C. Code Ann. §17-17-10 (the habeas statute) are only available to people either convicted of a crime (PCR statute), or committed or detained for a crime (habeas statute), and he could not seek relief under those statutes because his current commitment/detention is not punishment for a criminal

---

<sup>3</sup>In fact, multiple SVPTP residents have filed habeas petitions in the circuit court.

<sup>4</sup>Appellant's assertion the habeas right referenced in McCracken is "limited to challenging the conditions of their confinement" is simply incorrect. Nothing in the Court's opinion imposes such a limitation.

conviction, or other pending criminal charges. Nothing in either statute relates to civil cases, however, or trumps the constitutionally recognized common law right to petition for habeas relief if other remedies are unavailable. Rather, the PCR statute provides the functional equivalent of a habeas proceeding, and the habeas statute merely recognizes the right to seek habeas relief prior to conviction if detained on criminal charges.

Requiring a petition for habeas relief to assert ineffective assistance of counsel allegations avoids the problem of trying to decide such claims on the record in a direct appeal, a problem readily apparent in this case. A habeas proceeding would include an evidentiary hearing similar to PCR hearings, which affords trial counsel the opportunity to address the ineffective assistance of counsel allegations, and provides the appellate courts a full record, including the circuit court's findings and conclusions, for review purposes. Absent a full record, the appellate courts: 1) will not have the benefit of trial counsel's input, and have to assume counsel had no legitimate, strategic reasons for proceeding in a particular way; 2) will be forced to engage in rank speculation based on appellate counsel's assertions regarding what trial counsel should, or should not, have done; 3) must ignore issue preservation rules; and 4) will have to apply the plain error standard of review consistently rejected in South Carolina.

Appellant relies heavily on In re Ontiveros, 295 Kan. 10, 287 P.2d 855 (2012), arguing this Court should follow the Kansas Supreme Court's analysis of ineffective assistance of counsel claims in sexual predator cases because the SVPA was modeled on

the Kansas sexual predator statute.<sup>5</sup> There are significant aspects of the Ontiberos analysis impacting its applicability to South Carolina sexual predator cases.

A central basis for the Kansas court's right to counsel analysis in Ontiberos was the Kansas statute's provision that failure to comply with the statute's requirements, arguably including the statutory right to counsel, did not prevent the state from pursuing a sexual predator determination, which the court found diluted the statutory right to counsel and required a constitutional analysis. 287 P.2d at 863. South Carolina's SVPA has no such provision, and the statutory right to counsel is not diluted in any way.

Further, Kansas had a specific precedent regarding appellate court remand to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised on direct appeal, and the Kansas Court of Appeals had already remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing pursuant to that precedent. *Id.* at 865-866 (*citing* State v. Van Cleave, 239 Kan. 117, 716 P.2d 580 [1986]). The committee argued he could not file a habeas petition to raise his ineffective assistance of counsel claims, and the Court of Appeals did not have authority to remand the case on direct appeal for an evidentiary hearing on the allegations. The Kansas Supreme Court disagreed, finding the committee could file a habeas petition, but the remand was an appropriate exercise of discretion. *Id.* As a result, the appellate court had a full record in the committee's direct appeal on which to assess the ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant apparently equates "modeled on" with "indistinguishable." As discussed below, however, there is at least one clear distinction between the SVPA and the Kansas statute that goes to the heart of the Ontiberos analysis.

South Carolina appellate courts unquestionably have discretion to remand any case to the trial court for further proceedings, but unlike Kansas, there is no established precedent in South Carolina providing for remand **only** to develop issues raised for the first time on direct appeal when the party has another available avenue, such as habeas corpus, to raise those issues. Remanding under the circumstances of this case essentially eviscerates issue preservation and imposes a plain error standard of review, which appears to be Appellant's ultimate goal. *See* Brief of Appellant, p. 45 (asserting SVPA constitutionality problem compounded by "this Court's consistent refusal to adopt a plain error standard," and constitutional infirmity would be remedied "[i]f South Carolina used plain error review").

In Manning v. State, 913 So.2d 37 (1<sup>st</sup> Dist Fla. Ct. App., 2005), the court determined habeas corpus, rather than direct appeal, was the appropriate avenue to develop and decide a committee's ineffective assistance of counsel claims in cases under Florida's sexually violent predator statute, even though a habeas proceeding might not be the most convenient process. Subsequent to the Manning case, the Florida Supreme Court promulgated Rule 4.460, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure for Involuntary Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators, which expressly provides habeas corpus is an available mechanism to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims in sexual predator cases. Bohner v. State, 157 So.3d 526, 527 (1<sup>st</sup> Dist. Fla. Ct. App., 2015).

Admittedly, as Appellant notes, some courts have decided ineffective assistance claims on direct appeal in sexual predator cases when the claims did not require development of facts, which is not the case currently before this Court. As discussed below, notwithstanding Appellant's conclusory proclamations regarding trial counsel's

deficiencies, all Appellant's allegations, with one notable exception, require development of facts before a court can render a truly informed decision on whether trial counsel was so ineffective it shocked the conscious, and Appellant was prejudiced to the point he could not receive a fair trial.

**C. Appropriate Standard for Ineffective Assistance Analysis in SVPA Cases**

Appellant concedes the vast majority of jurisdictions addressing the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel in civil commitment cases use the two part analysis established in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) (to warrant reversal based on ineffective assistance of counsel, defendant must show both deficient performance and resulting prejudice). He argues Strickland imposes an "unreasonably" low standard for counsel's performance and an onerous burden to show ineffective assistance. He further argues the "denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice" habeas standard imposes a "nearly insurmountable legal standard" even more onerous than Strickland.<sup>6</sup> He asks this Court to adopt the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis espoused by the Montana Supreme Court in the civil (**not** sexual predator) commitment case of In Re: Mental Health of K.G.F., 306 Mont. 1, 29 P.3d 485 (2001).

In K.G.F., the court considered the right to counsel afforded by a state statute governing civil commitment of mentally ill individuals whose illness made them a danger to themselves r others.<sup>7</sup> No criminal act was required to trigger applicability of the

---

<sup>6</sup>This contention reveals the real reason Appellant does not want to use the available habeas procedure.

<sup>7</sup>It appears the Montana statute at issue is similar to probate court proceedings in South Carolina.

statute, and the process was completed in two days. Looking to guidelines developed by a national advocacy group, the court espoused five “critical areas” to define the scope of effective representation in commitment cases, and held an involuntary commitment must be vacated “upon a **substantial showing of evidence** . . . that counsel did not effectively represent the patient-respondent’s interest” in those areas. 29 P.3d at 498-501 (emphasis added).

Significantly, in Ontiberos, the case Appellant asserts should control in this case, the Kansas Supreme Court expressly **rejected** the K.G.F. analysis, and adopted the Strickland test for ineffective assistance of counsel claims in civil commitment proceedings under the Kansas sexual predator statute.

Numerous other jurisdictions use Strickland for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised by persons committed under that state's sexually violent predator law. *See, e.g., Jenkins*, 271 Va. at 16, 624 S.E.2d 453 (recognizing a constitutional right to effective counsel and evaluating the claim under Strickland); State of Texas for the Best Interest and Protection of H.W., 85 S.W.3d 348, 356 (Tex.App.2002) (same); People v. Rainey, 325 Ill.App.3d 573, 585–86, 259 Ill.Dec. 369, 758 N.E.2d 492 (2001) (recognizing statutory right to effective counsel and evaluating that claim under Strickland); In re Crane, 704 N.W.2d 437, 439 (Iowa 2005) (same); In re Alleged Mental Illness of Cordie, 372 N.W.2d 24, 29 (Minn.App.1985) (same). These courts applied Strickland regardless of whether that court held that the person's right to effective counsel arose from statute or the constitution.

Ontiberos, 287 P.3d at 868. In rejecting the K.F.G. analysis, the court noted no other jurisdiction had adopted it, and stated:

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